University of Sciences, Szeged, Hungary Faculty of Health Sciences and Social Studies Department of Physiotherapy

# Application of Halliwick Method on Patients with Central Nervous System Disability with Examination of Functional Balance, Independence and Postural Assessment Scale

Thesis abbreviated version

2007-2008

Szűcs-Balázs, Zsuzsanna physiotherapist

Balazs.zsu@gmail.com

Consultant: Katona, Enikő somatic educator

educator of swimming in rehabilitation National Institute for Medical Rehabilitation

MEDIC

EWAC

We get you moving

# **Table of Contents**

1	Introduction		
2	Phypothesis		2
	2.1	Posing Questions	2
3	Subjects and Methods		
	3.1	Introduction of Patients - General Description	
	3.2	Methods	
	3.3	Instruments	4
	3.4	Specific Case Description	4
	3.5	Observation in Water	6
	3.6	Application of the Ten Point Programme	6
4	Rea	sults	
5	5 Discussion		
6 Conclusion			
7	References		
8 Appendix – Additional Photos			



## **1** Introduction

The primary goal of the therapy described in this article is the improvement of abilities related to self sufficiency in patients with central nervous system damage. Self sufficiency is based on the ability to perform functions that are impossible without balance and postural control.

Water was chosen as the medium of rehabilitation. Its various effects on the body can create such opportunities that cannot be taken advantage of on land, in the absence of the medium. Additionally, during the adaptation to the new environment, due to motor learning, open skills may develop.

The subject of my article is the assessment of the applicability and effectiveness of the Halliwick concept in patients with central nervous system damage, by keeping track of trunk control, reflected by balance and function.



## 2 Hypothesis

Stroke is the primary cause of chronic disability of adults, but few studies examine the motor activity of the trunk in affected subjects [Marcucci, 2007]. The assessment of trunk rose my interest mainly because, through reestablishment of postural control, the normalisation of trunk muscle tone and the restoration of muscle balance, i.e. proximal stability, provide the base for all distal movements.

Our goal is the fastest possible achievement of self sufficiency and independence, safe sitting and standing, and the promotion of change between these postures.

Mobilisation is fundamental in post-stroke rehabilitation, especially restoration of *function*. The base of function is the restoration of appropriate proximal stability, i.e. the coordinated static and dynamic functional ability to control the shoulder girdle, pelvis, and trunk [Kovács, 2003].

In recognition of these facts we decided to assess patients by measurement of activities of daily living (ADL), balance and trunk control.

We assume that self sufficiency and associated skills (Barthel-Index; BI and Functional Independence Measure; FIM) improve the same way as trunk control (Postural Assessment Scale for Stroke Patients, items 1 and 6–9; PASS-TC) and functional balance (Functional Reach Test; FRT), and the control data show improving trend compared to the data collected before the beginning of therapy.

## 2.1 Posing Questions

- Do our results, including Halliwick method in the therapy, compare to the results of international literature [Ching-Lin Hsieh, 2002; Benaim, 1999] that found significant improvement of PASS-TC in the early post-stroke period, in strong correlation with FIM values [Ching-Lin Hsieh, 2002]?
- Will the patients achieve results in the normal interval of FRT? How will it relate to function?
- Do the PASS values show changes even one year after stroke? What are these changes like? Do they change as significantly as in the early post-stroke period?
- How do the two ADL scales, FIM and BI, relate to each other?

EWAC M We get you moving

## **3** Subjects and Methods

### 3.1 Introduction of Patients – General Description

Four persons were involved in the study, without restriction on gender and age, but only two of them could be assessed and treated due to time factor and lack of cooperation. These two persons took part of therapy based on Halliwick concept over 8 weeks, 2×45 minutes a week.

Their gender, age, height and weight were noted. Involved persons were male, average of 48.5 years, 181 cm and 77.5 kg.

Exclusion criteria in the selection were:

- Contraindications for application of aquatic therapy Inclusion criteria in the selection were:
  - Sign of acceptance statement
  - Stay in the institute for at least 8 weeks, or participation in therapy at least for 8 weeks in case of outpatients.

### 3.2 Methods

We chose objective, trustworthy measurement methods. The measurement procedures aimed trunk control and balance, embedded into function. Data were recorded before and after therapy.

The following measurement scales were used:

- Functional Independence Measure Scale (FIM)
- Barthel-Index (BI)
- Functional Reach Test (FRT)
- Postural Assessment Scale for Stroke Patients (PASS)

Additionally, the following parameters were recorded:

- Duration of stay in the institute
- Instruments used to facilitate mobility
- Assessment of range of motion and muscle strength

The measurements and treatments were performed personally, in a well-lit, silent, placid examination room.

Several international and Hungarian studies discuss the validity and reliability of the measurement scales. We focused on measurement methods that are simple to perform yet provide exact results. This brought us to use these four methods.

Two scales were used to assess the activities of daily living. Its importance is the refined assessment of function with multiple points of view. The two scales (FIM and BI) intersect and complement each other. Putten et al. [1999] found that both measurement methods have similar sensitivity and has no advantage over the other one.

FRT was found beneficial due to various factors. It is simple, easy to implement and does not require expensive equipment. It is also reliable [Duncan, 1990], and is connected to function.

The ability to compare assessment data was taken into account as well. Results of Belgian researchers [Vereeck et al., 2006] underline a significant correlation among trunk performance, balance and abil-

We get you moving

ity to function. Correlation of FIM and trunk control is also proven by more studies [Franchignoni, 1997; Ching-Lin Hsieh, 2002]. Based on analysis of movement strategies Nagy [2002] stated that the value of FRT is primarily influenced by the flexional and rotational movement of the trunk and the pelvis strategy, and ankle strategy for a lesser extent.

### 3.3 Instruments

Halliwick therapy was performed in a pool of water with indifferent temperature ( $33^{\circ}C$ ) and a depth of 113 cm.

The pool can be approached in two ways. Since it is not sunken (outer height 130 cm) steps (*Photo 1*) or a hydraulic lift can be used by the patients.

Quality of the water was strictly monitored not to have high mineral content because it would've exerted the organs and influenced the effectiveness of the therapy. We used water with mineral contents of 0.3 g/l [Csermely, 2002].





Photo 1

## 3.4 Specific Case Description

#### Anamnesis

Peter N. is 64, was hit by a concrete beam on a building site. Current complaints: gait and sitting are uncertain, left arm and hand are awkward. Has no pain while being still, but has pain during passive mobilisation (extension) of left extremities.

Associate diseases: essential hypertension, vulgar psoriasis, spondylosis. These diseases are hereditary.

Peter currently lives in a self contained house that has stairs. He lives with his family who help him much. Inside he often uses a wheelchair as exclusive ways of movement but exercises 30–60 minutes daily with elbow crutches.

### Diagnosis

He was brought to hospital as a severely damaged polytraumatic patient on 17/10/2006. Found right temporal cranial fracture, and opposite side frontal contusion that did not increase cerebral tension. Due to the closure of right arteria cerebris media the ischemic damage of same-side parietal lobe. Peter also suffered symphyseolysis and left pertrochanter fracture. He woke from coma on 20/11/2006. By this time quadriplegia has developed and he suffered from severe dysphasia. He was transferred to the National Institute for Medical Rehabilitation (OORI) on 18/12/2006, and returned home on 01/06/2007. He attends hydrotherapy 2×45 minutes a week as an outpatient. I joined his therapy and performed the first assessment on 28/11/2007.

We get you moving

4

#### Assessment

Peter's observation from the aspect of frontal plane yielded the following results: Left part of shoulder girdle is slightly elevated. Left shoulder joint is rotated inward. Elbow is in flexion, forearm in supine position. Wrist, finger and thumb joints are in flexion. Leftward lateral flexion of the trunk can be observed. From the aspect of sagittal plane: Left pelvic, knee and ankle joints are in extension, the right counterparts are in slight flexion. The trunk is slightly flexed.

During the muscle tone assessment both left extremities showed the "clasp-knife symptom", suggesting spasticity. The range of motion on the right side was appropriate for his age, but it was incomplete on the left side both actively and passively. The lower extremity is less degraded than the upper one. Muscle tone reflected the same results. Sensory assessment found surface anaesthesia at the distal end of lower left limb.

FRT was used to assess balance. The spasticity in Peter's left arm made it impossible to assess both sides. The measured value was 18 cm.

The result of FIM and BI scales reflected poor values primarily in the movement, transport and self sufficiency categories. According to PASS results Peter needs more or less help in execution of vertical movements.

Peter's motivation is outstanding; he is enduring, strongly cooperative. We set standing and confident gait as short term goals. Long term goal was the total abandonment of the wheelchair and the exclusive use of crutches. Additionally we aimed at the further resolution of spasticity to improve the function of the hand. His treatment is reduced to hydrotherapy from 01/01/2008 and the already set medication.



## 3.5 Observation in Water

"What and where is anything showing above water? Where is anything sinking?" [Gamper, 1995]

Peter's trunk was observed in sitting position. Active and passive mobilisation of shoulder girdle and upper extremities was essential part of his therapy. This was performed in sitting position, fixed with a seat belt at the pelvic girdle. This article is not concerned about this part of the therapy but it provided excellent opportunity to analyse sitting position. Pelvis is fixed in this posture and the compensation mechanisms of lower extremities do not interfere.

The longitudinal axis of the trunk deviates to the right from the symmetry axis, his head and gaze is aligned to the latter. The shoulder girdle is elevated, associated with slight protraction. This is more emphasised on the right side. Right



Photo 2

shoulder is in neutral position. Left shoulder joint is spontaneously positioned in flexion, abduction and internal rotation. Slight right rotation of the thoracic section of the spine and left lateral flexion of lumbar section can be observed. Left side is shortened, right side is extended, and weight is borne on right side.

## 3.6 Application of the Ten Point Programme

Description of the Ten Point programme is not subject of this article. We find it important, however, to introduce the chosen method through case description because the practical implementation of TPP is a function of the patients' actual mental and physical state in all cases.

### I. Mental Adjustment

Peter was not afraid of water from the beginning; he even prefers aquatic therapy. He acquired exhaling to water confidently with ease (*Photo 3, Photo 4*). This exercise helps establish and improve trust between patient and therapeutist that is essential in the future. Peter has extraordinary vital capacity. This gave him success in addition to good ability to float.

### II. Sagittal Rotation Control

This is the first step to establish balance control. We can use it in therapy for active lateral flexion of the spine; it increases range of lateral flexional motion and extends the trunk. We can improve balance sideways, promote support and balance reactions and stabilise spine sideways [Barnai, 2003]. Increasing the range of lateral flexional motion and extension of the trunk were important in our cases.

6

We get you moving

Peter's motion is blocky, some selectivity could be observed only after several exercises, manifested in the form of lateral flexion on the non-laden, i.e. opposite side. (*Photo 5*)

#### III. Transversal Rotation Control

We practiced transversal rotation a lot for both patients. This demands acquiring a position that assumes significant trust towards the terapeutist.

This is the first exercise that changes vertical posture. The motion is a rotation around the transversal axis, i.e. lying supine from standing or sitting, and vica versa. It facilitates straightening, makes the fine tuning of trunk muscles possible due to continuous need for eccentric-concentric control.

Both patients had similar difficulties. At the beginning they started rotation from below, and they lacked the series of selective extension of spine sections, one by one. The therapy managed to achieve starting the rotation from above and gradual extension of the spine sections.

The PASS results reflect that Peter's therapy must focus on the motion patterns of vertical movements. Peter needs a lot of external support to perform the exercises (PASS 8–9).

#### IV. Longitudinal Rotation Control

Improved tone degrades, decreased tone improves the buoyancy of a given body part. In Peter's case (increased left-side tone) this would result in longitudinal rotation to the left.

The most important change to render the exercise more difficult is the decrease of radius around the longitudinal axis. This was achieved by drawing arms near the trunk, and closing lower limbs. Peter, due to the left side spasticity, did not succeed always in drawing his left arm near his trunk, but closing the lower extremities did not pose a problem.

Some blocky motion could be observed in Peter's rotation exercises initially, but it evolved into harmonic fine motion during continuous practice. He still needs help to turn towards unaffected side. This can be provided by the therapeutist from the affected side at the pelvis or at the shoulder girdle (*Photo 6*). Rotation to the unaffected side was easier when started from above. Rotation to the affected side was performed with equal ease both from above and from below.

#### V. Combined Rotation Control

It is essential for inhaling and exhaling not to restrict control to a rotation around a single axis, but during a complex exercise as well. Water adequate exhaling achieved during mental adaptation plays a primary role here.

It facilitates the spatial coordination of trunk and body, and has extraordinary functionality. This motion is the safe foundation of changing posture and location in water.

This exercise demands serious attention and concentration fromPeter. He often feels dizzy during these motions, and needs rela-

We get you moving

tively lots of external help. Continuous practice makes his motion more and more integrated, selective.

#### VI. Mental Inversion

Peter experienced that he cannot stay at the bottom of the pool for an extended period. He acknowledged the positive effect of upthrust. Continuous exhaling is important here as well, and we do not allow trials too long because of changes in pressure conditions.

Completion of the first six points assumes a great degree of independence that is a mandatory prerequisite of independent movement.

#### VII. Balance in Stillness

We focus on balance and stability of various postures. Patients must be able to react with central motor control; balance reactions must appear exclusively in the axial structure.

Any change of support provokes a balance reaction from the patient. The less the change the finer the coordination of muscle contraction that is necessary to maintain floating. This point is used to make the patient feel and practice the stabilisation and balance originating from trunk, pelvis, and the hip region.

Peter is affected on one side only. Due to the spasticity (on the left side) destroyed equilibrium of the two sides of the body. Increased tone degrades ability to float, so he would spontaneously rotate leftward around his longitudinal axis. Our goal is independent floating, without help.

Our primary goal for the patient is to learn how to maintain balance in an open kinetic chain.

#### VIII. Turbulent Gliding

This exercise is a more difficult version of point VII, i.e. we express massive forces around the body (e.g. turbulence).

Its relevance in therapy is the preparation of dynamic trunk balance. During the motion balance must be maintained "centrally".

Peter had relatively much difficulty to perform this task the first time. Frequent practice and developed trust and cooperation came to a fruition of finding and, gradually, maintaining his balance in spite of turbulences and whirlpools we created.

#### IX. Simple Progression

This is a symmetric movement with arms held underwater all the time. If head and trunk control remained constant, then we would talk about the first true swimming position.

Arm movements disturb the trunk's stability. This point may be better functionally than turbulent gliding.

Peter managed to maintain constant head and trunk control during symmetric arm movements, but it did not last long, only a couple of seconds. After having swayed off balance he managed to reestablish and maintain it again for a short period.

8

We get you moving

#### X. Basic Halliwick Movement

Peter did not reach this point by 01/02/2008 when my role in the rehabilitation ended. Our short term goals did not include the completion of the ten point programme; we aimed the confident control of water and the timely, exact, controlled adaptation to the effects of water. It is, however, a valid goal and his rehabilitation continues in this spirit.



## 4 Results

This section describes the results achieved. It is analysed in the function of time. Additionally, we compare our results to some internationally published data. The results are the achievement of all the people involved in the rehabilitation. The most important member of this team was the patient.



The first two charts compare the initial and control values of FIM and BI. The values have improved. BI did not improve considerably, but FIM values show an improvement to be reckoned with. Apparently, according to BI Peter's activities improved only in "getting un/dressed", while FIM shows improvement in more areas. These are "eating", "movement" and "transport".



Chart 3 shows initial and control values of PASS. No negative tendencies can be observed. Peter received maximum score for five items initially, and ten items at control assessment. He still has potential to improve in "standing on affected lower limb" (item 5) and "pick up a small item from the floor while standing" (item 12), but even these two items have improved. It is important to emphasise that

We get you moving

there is an item that could not be performed at all by Peter initially, and he could perform it, even though with considerable support.

The items of PASS that are relevant to trunk control, based on the studies of Ching-Lin Hsieh et al [2002] are items 1 and 6–9. We took these as the base of our analysis. These items are:

- 1. Sitting without support
- 6. Supine to affected side lateral
- 7. Supine to non-affected side lateral
- 8. Supine to sitting up on edge of table
- 9. Sitting on edge of table to supine

The maximum score for these items is  $5 \times 3$ , that is, 15 points.

Peter (*Chart 4*) scored maximum for three of these elements even at the initial assessment, but control scores are maximal for all five items. He increased his initial score of 13 to the maximum available, 15.

One year has passed after the stroke of Peter before the initial assessment. His initial score was 67%. He scored 92% on the control assessment. We deduce that the improvement was significant, independently from the time of the stroke.



Chart 5 – Initial and control values compared to maximum, ADL and PASS-TC

*Chart 5* compares trunk control (PASS-TC) to functional independence and self sufficiency (FIM, BI). Improvement can be observed in all three scales. Peter's BI improved by 5%, FIM improved by 12%, and PASS-TC improved by 13%. The values suggest that the three values are closely, but not linearly correlated. Of course this cannot be a general conclusion due to the low case count.

The normal interval of FRT is above 15–25 cm. Both patients achieved values than the lower boundary at the initial assessment, but they did not reach the upper boundary, unlike at the control assessment. Peter's FRT improved by 50%.







Chart 6 – Initial and control values compared to maximum, FRT and PASS-TC



FRT control values exceeded 100%, defined as the upper boundary of the normal interval (25 cm). PASS-TC, on the contrary, has an absolute upper boundary (15 points). The two measurement methods are consistent, since both patients reached the maximum of PASS-TC and the upper boundary of FRT's normal interval. (*Chart 6*)

Similar to PASS-TC, FRT improved in significantly higher degree than the ADL measures. While FRT reached the maximum the ADL functions left measureable deficiency. (*Chart 7*)



### **5** Discussion

The ADL scales complemented each other, as assumed (3.2 Methods). Their scores were similar to each other (*Chart 1* and *Chart 2*). The actual abilities of the patients were not reflected in all areas. We found its root cause in the strict conditions and restrictions of scoring. Additionally, objective data was derived from subjective scoring in many cases (e.g. intense, moderate, slight support).

PASS results yielded the following: Peter's original score was 24 of 36 (*Chart 3*), of which PASS-TC was 13 of 15 (*Chart 4*). Control values show improvement, since complete PASS scored 33 of 36, and PASS-TC scored the maximal 15 of 15.

We find it important that both patients have reached the maximal score for trunk control. Additionally, PASS reached 91.6% for Peter and a similar excellent result for the other patient. Both patients found the item "Standing on paretic leg" the most difficult. This is, however, not surprising, since this is the hardest, most complex of the exercises when assessing static balance. Base of support is tiny, and the conditions demands appropriate muscle strength and coordination alike. Both patients had tone controlling problems as well that could not be dealt with by the end of the therapy. This is an important exercise from functional point of view. In Perry's midstance phase of gait the same demands are necessary, i.e. bearing the full body weight on one lower limb. This item has improved for Peter and stagnated for the other patient. As a side note we add that our part of the therapy, hydrotherapy, did not put emphasis on this exercise. We focused on improvement of trunk control instead, while land therapists endeavoured to perfect gait and the bearing of body weight.

Comparisons from functional point of view were made by correlating FIM and BI to PASS (see below).

Evaluating PASS-TC we can state that the possible best results were achieved. Peter's little initial deficiency can be explained by the time of the stroke and the continuous, frequent, adequate therapy applied (*Chart 4*).

Peter had problems with "Supine to sitting on edge of table" (item 8) and its reverse (item 9). Both belong to the upright (vertical) movements. They were improved primarily during vertical rotation and all combined movements based on that. Balance in stillness (step 7 of the ten point programme) and turbulent gliding (step 8) created such static and dynamic balance conditions that needed the finely harmonised work of all muscle groups, including the muscles responsible for vertical trunk movements, to maintain.

Evaluating full PASS we concluded that the test qualified as sensitive, independently from the time of the stroke. This opposes the results published in international literature [Ching-Lin Hsieh, 2002], but this cannot be generalised, since we studied only one case where one year had passed after stroke. Changes due to therapy were very

We get you moving

similar in both cases. Percentage-wise, control score improved by 25% in both cases.

Percentage increase of ADL values compared to PASS-TC values yielded likewise results (*Chart 5*). Scores increased in both cases, but not in equal rate. Our assumption that BI and FIM increases linearly with PASS-TC, did not hold. In Peter's case FIM and PASS-TC improved nearly the same rate, but BI improved much less. This may be explained by the inconsequent scoring of BI that does not reckon with marginal values.

We can conclude that our results partially match international studies [Ching-Lin Hsieh, 2002]. Both tests' scores improved, but the rates were not similar enough to claim a close correlation.

Comparing PASS-TC and FRT results the following correlation can be observed. Peter's initial PASS-TC score was close to maximum, thus the improvement was not so outstanding (13%). Regarding FRT (defining 25 cm as 100%) improvement was 36% (control value of 108%, not shown by charts) and it can obviously be measured. Therefore we concluded that, in Peter's case, PASS-TC was not as sensitive as FRT (*Chart 6*).

Comparing FRT and ADL scales we can state as well that in Peter's case, due to the high initial scores, the improvement that can be measured by ADL scales is not as evident as for the other patient. FRT has changed in the same direction but for a different degree (*Chart 7*).

All in all, we can state that functional balance and trunk control improved for a greater degree than abilities used in activities of daily living. Thus, former measures only forecast the latter ones. Complete PASS, on the other hand, shows an overall picture.

The changes in range of motion and muscle strength were in positive direction in both cases. Peter had initial values deviating from normal on the unaffected, right side in addition to the affected left side [Kapandji, 2006]. The former showed changes on the proximal section of the upper limb; range of motion improved there. On the proximal section of the left upper limb and in the full length of the left lower limb improvement both in muscle strength and range of motion can be observed. Observing the trunk we saw significant changes in lateral flexion and rotation. Former increased by 125% on right side and by 150% on left side. Rotation became equal (20°) on both sides, reflecting an improvement of 133% on right and 200% on left side. Flexion and extension muscle strength was level 4 on control assessment. This matches the initial value on right, and exceeds the initial value of 3 on left side.

## EWAC MEDICAL

The following results reflect the harvest of our work best:

Peter spent his everyday life in his wheelchair in November 2007. In contrast, nowadays he uses the crutches more than the

We get you moving

14

wheelchair. By his own admission he climbed 5 stairs independently up and down. On 01/02/2008 he climbed the pool stairs alternating his legs. Downwards he still had problems with alternated gait. He is able to fetch books independently from shelves over breast height at home. He is able to stand in the kitchen without support and peel potatoes.

The success of therapy and effectiveness of Halliwick concept are best demonstrated by these results.



## 6 Conclusion

We studied patients with cerebrovascular insult in this article, and treated them according to Halliwick method. We examined functional independence, abilities of self sufficiency and balance. The objective scales at our disposal were simple, demanded little time and low cost to apply. Assessments were made at the times when I joined the rehabilitation and when I left the team. Rehabilitation of patients is continued afterwards.

Patients received comprehensive therapy. It includes medication, movement therapy and ergotherapy alike. Movement therapy has two large parts, basic and supplementary ones. Basic movement therapy is performed on land, while the treatment is made complex and comprehensive by the supplementary part; hydrotherapy. The Halliwick concept is organic part of hydrotherapy, but other, aquatic therapy methods were used in addition to address specific problems. We find it important to notice that the results achieved are not exclusively results of our job. We were members of a rehabilitation team; therefore the results reflect the complete work of the whole team.

In my opinion we managed to improve abilities to perform functions significantly, and improve some functions to skill level.

We had opportunities in water that couldn't have been established on land. Such a condition is the lack of fixed base of support, making it possible to easily change its size and direction, giving an unbound instrument to the therapeutist. By changing base of support the aid can easily lead the patient to find and lose balance. This is the essence of improving balance. In addition, buoyancy helped to perform such normal movements that could not be achieved on land. This stimulated the central nervous system with appropriate input.

I think that we aided the patients much in performing activities of daily living, self sufficient and independent lifestyle, and raise their standards of their life to a higher level.



### 7 References

- 1. Balogh Zoltán: A stroke-betegek ápolásának és rehabilitációjának egységes ápolási irányelvei. *Lege Artis Medicinae*, 2003/1, XIII, 50–56
- 2. Barnai Mária; Sziráki Edina (2003): Halliwick / Tíz Pontos Program, *Mozgásterápia* 2003/3, XII, 19–22
- 3. Dr. Boros Erzsébet; Dr. Ricsóy Gabriella (2003): A háziorvos szerepe a strokerehabilitációban, *Hippocrates* 2003/július-augusztus, V./4., 247–250
- 4. Dr. Bender Tamás (2005): A balneoterápia és a hidroterápia hatása mozgásszervi megbetegedésekben. *Lege Artis Medicinae*, 2005/12, XV, 921–926
- Ching-Lin Hsieh, PhD; Ching-Fan Sheu, PhD; I-Ping Hsueh, MA; Chun-Hou Wang, BS: Trunk Control as an Early Predictor of Comprehensive Activities of Daily Living Function in Stroke Patients. *Stroke* 2002; 33: 2626–2630.
- 6. Csermely Miklós: Fizioterápia, Medicina, Budapest, 2002.
- Dr. Darabosné Tim Irma; Dr. Feszthammer Artúrné (1999.): Fizioterápia a rehabilitációban. In: Katona – Siegler (1999): Orvosi rehabilitáció. Medicina, Budapest
- 8. Davies, Patricia M.: Steps To Follow, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1985.
- 9. Franchignoni; Tesio; Ricupero; Martino (1997): Trunk Control Test as an Early Predictor of Stroke Rehabilitation Outcome. *Stroke*, 1997;28: 1382–1385.
- Gamper, Urs N.: Wasserspezifische Bewegungstherapie und Training, Urban & Fischer Bei Elsevier, 1995.
- Dr. Halmos Béla; Erdélyiné Szolári Judit; Ferenc Attiláné: Stroke utáni rehabilitáció. In: Katona Ferenc és Siegler János: Orvosi rehabilitáció, Medicina, Budapest, 1999.
- Dr. Halmos Béla; Kiss Judit (2002): A stroke-betegek rehabilitációját hátráltató tényezők. *Rehabilitáció*, 2002/4, XII, 14–16.
- 13. Katona Enikő (2003): A Halliwick-módszer alkalmazásának lehetősége vasculáris eredetű agysérülés esetében. *Mozgásterápia*, 2003/4, XII, 12–15.
- 14. Katona Ferenc: Klinikai fejlődésneurológia, Medicina, Budapest, 2006.
- 15. Kapandji, Ibrahim A.: Az ízületek élettana (3. kötet), Medicina, Bp., 2006.: 50., 52., 90., 104., 120., 136.,
- 16. Dr. Kádas Éva (2003): Összefoglaló a subaqualis térben történő mozgás alapjairól. *Mozgásterápia*, 2003/4, XII, 8–11
- 17. Kopetzky, Angelika: Psychomotorische Förderung im Element Wasser: Die Entdeckung eines neuen Raums, GRIN Verlag, 2005.

We get you moving

- Dr. Kovács Éva (2003): Neurológiai fizioterápia alkalmazása egy agydaganat következtében hemiparetikus beteg rehabilitációjában. *Mozgásterápia* 2003/3 XII, 14–18
- 19. Dr. Kullmann Lajos: Fogyatékos emberek és rehabilitációjuk. In: Katona Ferenc és Siegler János: Orvosi rehabilitáció, Medicina, Budapest, 1999.
- 20. Lambeck, Johan (2002): Das Halliwick Konzept. (www.halliwick.de)
- 21. Lambeck, Johan; Fran Coffey Stanat; Douglas W. Kinnaird: The Halliwick Concept. In: Bruce E. Becker, Andrew J. Cole: Comprehensive Aquatic Therapy, Butterworth Heinemann, 2003.
- 22. Lee, S. G.; S. Y. Lee; H. L. Im; J. H. Kim; I. S. Choi (2006): Effect of Hydrotherapy on the Functional Status in Ischemic Stroke Patients. *Neurorehabilitation and Neural Repair* 2006/1, XX, 171–172
- 23. Makovicsné Landor Erika (1999.) : A neurológiai betegek rehabilitációja. In: Katona – Siegler (1999): *Orvosi rehabilitáció*. Medicina, Budapest
- 24. Mao, Hui-Fen; I-Ping Hsueh; Pei-Fang Tang; Ching-Fang Sheu; Ching-Lin Hsieh (2002): Analysis and Comparison of the Psychometric Properties of Three Balance Measures for Stroke Patients. *Stroke*, 2002;33: 1022–1027
- 25. Marcucci FC; Cardoso NS; Berteli Kde S; Garanhani MR; Cardoso JR. (2007): Electromyographic alterations of trunk muscle of patients with post-stroke hemiparesis. *Arquivos de neuro-psiquiatria*, 2007 szept.; 65(3B): 900–905.
- 26. Dr. Mihálka László (2002): Stroke epidemiológiai vizsgálatok Közép-Kelet Európában. *Egyetemi doktori (PH.D.) értekezés tézisei* (Témavezető: Dr. Bereczki Dániel), DEOEC Neurológiai Klinika, 2002.
- 27. Nagy Edit (2002): A funkcionális egyensúly vizsgálata egészséges felnőtteken. *Mozgásterápia*, 2002/3, XI, 13–17.
- 28. Prof. Dr. Nagy Zoltán és munkatársai: A cerebrovasculáris betegségek megelőzése, diagnosztikája, akut ellátása és korai rehabilitációja (Tényekre támaszkodó ajánlások, 2002) *Agyérbetegségek*, 2002/8, I. különszám, 2-18
- 29. Pártos István: Úszás, Kézirat, 2002.
- 30. Poór Gyula; Bálint Géza; Csermely Miklós (2005): Helyzetjelentés és jövőkép a fizioterápiáról Magyarországon. *Magyar Tudomány*, 2005/11 1398–1404
- Putten, JJMF van der; JC Hobart; JA Freemann; AJ Thompson (1999): Measuring change in disability after inpatient rehabilitation: comparison of the responsiveness of the Barthel Index and the Functional Independence Measure. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry 1999/April LXVI, 480–484
- 32. Schick, Thomas (2003): Aquatherapie bei neurologischen Erkrankungen: Motorisches Lernen im Wasser. *Physiopraxis* 2003/7, 14–17

18

We get you moving

- 33. Shumway-Cook, Anne; Marjorie H. Woollacott: Motor Control: Translating Research into Clinical Practice, Lippincott Williams & Wilkins, 2006
- 34. Dr. Szél István (1999): Rehabilitáció stroke után. In: Katona Siegler (1999): *Orvosi rehabilitáció*. Medicina, Budapest
- 35. Varga Márta; Földi Gyula (2004): Hydrotherápia értékelése polytraumatizált inkomplett gerincvelősérült betegnél. *Mozgásterápia*, 2004/1, XIII, 19–22
- 36. Vereeck, Luc; Steven Truijen; Geert Verheyden; Mark Troch; Iris Herregodts; Cristophe Lafosse; Alice Nieuwboer; Willy De Weerdt (2006): Trunk performance after stroke and the relationship with balance, gait and functional ability. *Clinical Rehabilitation*, 2006/5, XX, 451–458.
- 37. Verheyden, G; A Nieuwboer; J Mertin; R Preger; C Kiekens; W De Weerdt (2004): The Trunk Impairment Scale: a new tool to measure motor impairment of the trunk after stroke. *Clinical Rehabilitation* 2004; 18: 326–334.



# 8 Appendix – Additional Photos



Photo 3



Photo 4



Photo 5



Photo 6

